FILED 01-16-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

State of Wisconsin

Court of Appeals

District II

Case No. 2024AP2239

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

Jennifer R. Smart,

Defendant-Appellant

On a Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Circuit Court for Waukesha County, the Honorable Ralph M. Ramirez, Presiding.

Brief of Defendant-Appellant

Jennifer R. Smart 1226 Coon Hollow Rd. Confluence PA 15424 (240) 321-6469 junijencv@icloud.com

Defendant-Appellant

Statement of Issues

- I. Smart was denied her right to effective assistance of counsel.
- II. There was not a factual basis for the charges.
- III. The plea negotiations and pleas were not knowing, voluntary, and intelligent.

Statement on Oral Argument and Publication

This case may be resolved by applying established legal principles to the facts of this case. Smart does not request oral argument. Smart does request publication because the case presents due process issues that are important for maintaining public trust in the criminal justice system.

Statement of Case and Facts

On June 11, 1999 Jennifer R. Smart was convicted of two counts of felony child abduction and one misdemeanor count of causing a person who has not attained the age of 18 years¹ to expose genitals (R. 5 at 19-20, 7-8, 1-2, App., p. 80).

¹ Child defined: Wis. Stat. § 948.01(1) (1997).

Case 2024AP002239 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2025 Page 8 of 48

Three years after Smart was convicted, the plea hearing transcript was sent to the Wisconsin Department of Corrections and Smart was notified that she would have to comply with sex offender registration (R. 2 at 1, App., p. 72).²

Twenty years after she was convicted, Smart was notified that she was required to comply with sex offender registration for the rest of her life (R. 30 at 1, App., p. 74).

Jennifer R. Smart was wrongfully convicted by the suppression of evidence, and the manipulation of laws and legal procedures. Smart will show why it took twenty five years to uncover the wrongful convictions.

The issues Smart raises are due process violations under U.S. CONST. amend. VI, § 1., amend. XIV., and WIS. CONST. art. I. § 7. The issues could not have been raised earlier because they were concealed in court proceedings that Smart had no reason to question. But the case has had an unreasonable outcome—just a year and one half in jail but a lifetime requirement to register as a sex offender.

For over twenty-two years, Smart remained unaware of any legal standing to approach the court for relief from the criminal convictions imposed on her on June 11, 1999. That started changing after April 19, 2019 when she was notified of the lifetime requirement for sex offender registration.

² All highlighting is supplied for ease of reference.

Case 2024AP002239 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2025 Page 9 of 48

After other attempts to seek justice, Smart sent a letter to the responsible official seeking review of her plea agreement, and relief from the public registry (R. 8 at 2, App., p. 75). The responsible official scheduled a hearing for November 15, 2021.

While awaiting the hearing, Smart had begun looking at the court record and discovered that she had unknowingly accepted a plea bargain. Without having explained the nature of the charges to Smart, counsel and the assistant district attorney worked out a plea bargain arrangement where two felony counts of second degree sexual assault (Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2),³ would be dismissed in exchange misdemeanor count of exposing genitals (Wis. Stat. § 948.10(1) (R. 5 at 95, App., p. 46). Unknown to Smart however, both the second degree sexual assault charges and the exposing genitals charge were based on the specific criminal intention that Smart had been sexually aroused or sexually gratified in her relationship with JD. Sexual arousal or sexual gratification are the crucial second part of the definition of sexual contact. See Wis. Stat. § 948.01(5). Smart had no idea of the maneuvers being used to negotiate the plea bargain.

³ Case statutes from 1997-98.

Case 2024AP002239 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2025 Page 10 of 48

Smart made another discovery—SD's murder/suicide threats (R. 5 at 29 ¶ 2, App., p, 32) and counsel's entire discovery had been suppressed from court proceedings. Counsel's Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum and eight attachments containing exculpatory evidence did not enter the court record until after Smart was convicted. Smart had made involuntary pleas and the material facts of SD's murder/suicide threats had been withheld from the court.

On October 25, 2021, (three weeks before the scheduled hearing regarding the requirement to register as a lifetime sex offender), Smart filed a letter with the court explaining why she believed she had been wrongfully convicted (R. 19 at 1, App., p. 76).

On November 11, 2021—four days before the hearing—Smart motioned the lower court to vacate and expunge the convictions (R. 20 at 1, App., p. 78).

Before September of 2021, Smart had no basis for questioning the original court proceedings leading to the convictions. She had been biding her time expecting to be released from the registry on August 19, 2023.⁴ Smart's primary issues for the upcoming November 15, 2021 hearing were to be: **#1.** Smart was not given notice of the requirement to register as a sex offender until three years after sentencing;

⁴ The release date was calculated based on Wis. Stat. 301.45(5)(a)1.

Case 2024AP002239 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2025 Page 11 of 48

#2. Smart was given notice of requirement to register as a **lifetime** sex offender on April 19, 2019—almost two decades after being convicted; **#3.** The requirement to register as a sex offender was not in the judgments of conviction (R. 5 at 19-20, 7-8, 1-2, App., p. 80); **#4.** Counsel had assured Smart that she would not have to register (included in her plea bargain—so she thought) (R. 5 at 95, 98, App., p. 46-47). These were the original issues that Smart planned to bring forward at the upcoming hearing. But with her expanding knowledge of the case, the issues had changed.

The final revelation came when Smart discovered that counsel had not represented her. Counsel did not advocate for her. Counsel's admitted failure to represent Smart, is evident in an explanation that follows item #1— *Background Letter from Jennifer to Attorney [BSC]* (R. 5 at 36, App., p. 69)—of his table of attachments. The explanation reads:

This letter was originally handwritten by Jennifer to Attorney [BSC] to provide him with background information in this matter. It was written over six months ago [January 17, 1999], at a time when it was not contemplated that this information would be presented to the court. It is included here because it

provides Jennifer's perspective from her jail cell at an early stage in this case.⁵

Counsel's Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum, Smart's letter (attach. #1) (R. 5 at 37-44), and the other seven attachments contained the evidence that should have been used to defend Smart, but was **not** presented to the court until after Smart was convicted. Although Smart was given copies of these undated documents of record, she had no reason to examine them. In September of 2021, Smart realized that they were the discovery documents that counsel had collected but never used to defend her.

Until September of 2021 (decades after being convicted), Smart had no reason to question how counsel had proceeded in litigating her case. By counsel making numerous court requests concerning college entrance activities, Smart was led to believe that he was functioning as her defense attorney.

Counsel led Smart to believe that she would avoid substantial prison time **only** by accepting the plea bargain that he had negotiated with the prosecutor (R. 5 at 95, App., p. 46). That may have been true, had Smart actually committed the crimes. By suppressing SD's murder/suicide threats and by concealing from Smart the nature of the crimes being

^{5 &}quot;[O]ver six months ago" + January 17, 1999 = July 26, 1999—the day counsel filed the Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum and eight attachments under 98CF762 R. 3 at 16 (off the record).

> attributed to her actions, counsel was not acting in her defense. Smart entered into the deceptive plea bargain on June 7, 1999 (R. 5 at 95, App., p. 46). Taking a closer look at the plea negotiations—the supposed plea bargain had been in place from the day charges were filed on October 22, 1998 (R. 5 at 127, 129, App., p. 11-12). Smart pled no contest and was convicted of two felonies—the check marked child abduction charges, (App., p. 11). Smart pled no contest and was convicted of the misdemeanor exposing genitals—the notation at bottom of p. 3—Ct <u>5</u> amended inform. Exposing —, App., p. 12). *See* Argument II. But it was not until September of 2021—after examining court records for both the original and amended criminal complaints for both cases 98CF761 and 98CF762, and Muskego Police Report PR98-0475—that Smart discovered she had been wrongfully convicted.

ARGUMENT

I. Smart was denied her right to effective assistance of counsel.

Weeks before the preliminary hearing, Smart explained to counsel the situation leading to the filing of charges. Smart met SD through SD's daughter, SF, one of Smart's classmates. When Smart was chumming with SF, SF's little brother JD was always tagging along. Smart got to know JD and they started to enjoy each other's company (attach. 1 at 5) (R. 5 at

41 ¶ 4, App., p. 23). SD needed help to pay her expenses, and help with JD. Smart needed a place to stay close to work. SD suggested that Smart could rent her walkout basement recroom for her living quarters. Smart agreed. It was a convenient arrangement for both SD and Smart (R. 5 at 27 ¶ 3, App., p. 57).

Smart described to counsel how her relationship with JD progressed—which she would later commit to writing in the January 17, 1999 letter, requested by counsel: "My intention by moving in with [SD] at the mid/end of summer...changed from wanting to help [SD] financially and keep J out of boredom and trouble with the law as a result, to needing someone who needed me. Maybe I'm wrong, but I truly believe that J needed me. We spent so much time together So much conversation, etc. that I don't know how he could not have needed me. Suddenly it seems I didn't view him as a little brother, but as an equal, my uncomplaining companion." (R. 5 at 42, ¶ 1, App., p. 24).

Smart explained to counsel the living arrangement setup in SD's walkout basement rec-room. Smart rented the walkout basement rec-room on the south side of a two family equally-divided townhouse. Looking at the duplex as a whole, at first sight, it may appear that there was more than one room in the walkout basement. Not so. The rec-room was the **only**

room in the walkout basement of SD's side of the duplex. (R. 28 at 1, App., p. 29). The walkout basement rec-room was used by both JD and Smart. The walkout basement rec-room was JD's space before Smart started staying there. It was JD's space while Smart was there. And it was JD's space after Smart was told to leave. In the criminal complaint, SD referred to the walkout basement rec-room in two ways—both as "[a] room in the basement" that she rented to Smart (R. 5 at 128 ¶ 6, App., p. 26), and as JD's "bedroom in the basement" (R. 5 at 128 ¶ 5, App., p. 26). The end result was that SD rented space to Smart that was already being used by JD.

Counsel knew that SD had a gun because Smart explained to counsel how she had talked SD into temporarily surrendering the weapon during an incident at a party (R. 5 at 30 ¶ 2, App., p. 31).

Smart explained to counsel SD's assault on her—which would later be documented in counsel's Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum (R. 5 at 29 ¶ 2, App., pp. 30-31).

Counsel knew that during the evening before JD left with Smart for Lac du Flambeau, SD threatened to shoot them both, then kill herself. JD reported the threats to the Lac du Flambeau police when he was taken into custody on October 7, 1998 (R. 5 at 29 ¶ 2, App., p. 30). Counsel had all of this information before the preliminary hearing.

Case 2024AP002239 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-16-2025 Page 16 of 48

In spite of the information provided by Smart and the district attorney, on the day of the preliminary hearing—when Smart requested that counsel question SD about her role in the events leading to the charges—counsel emphatically refused. SD had already been cast as the victim (R. 2 at 5:23, App., p. 36). Counsel refused to do anything to challenge that perception. The court reporter's notes verify counsel's refusal to confront and cross-examine SD (R. 5 at 121, App., p. 43).

In *Custis v. United States*, 511 U.S. 485, 494-495, "[t]he right to be heard would be, in many cases, of little avail if it did not comprehend the right to be heard by counsel" (quoting *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U. S. 45, 68-69 (1932)). In Smart's case, starting at the preliminary hearing, counsel did not exercise Smart's right to be heard. Competent representation required counsel to confront and cross-examine Smart's accuser, SD, to get to the truth of the matter. Without Smart's attorney offering her any defense, it was simple for a court commissioner to find probable cause that six felonies had been committed (four for 98CF761 and two for 98CF762). While not advocating for Smart, counsel had no problem letting SD maintain the victim role.

After the preliminary hearing, counsel requested a background letter from Smart. In that letter Smart states (regarding the charges of sexual assault), "I do believe that

my feelings for J weren't a reaction to some internal carnal need to get some play. If I was really in need of sex, I didn't need a 13-year-old for it" (R. 5 at 43, ¶ 1, App., 25). Now, verifying what Smart had told counsel prior to the preliminary hearing, counsel had Smart's written statement attesting to her non-sexual relationship with JD.

Three months before the plea hearing, counsel hired a specialist to examine Smart in relation to the sexual assault charges (R. 5 at 45-52). The specialist's findings verified what Smart had told counsel. There was no evidence of Smart being sexually motivated in her interactions with JD. The consultant stated, "[Smart] was not seeking personal sexual gratification," (R. 5 at 51 ¶ 1, App., p. 21).

With the expert's findings in agreement with Smart's statements to counsel, counsel could have defended Smart against the second degree sexual assault allegations. But counsel withheld Smart's statements and the expert's findings until after Smart was convicted.

Counsel had a witness who understood Smart's concern for JD's need for protection. The parents of the witness penned their letter of support for Smart five days after the preliminary hearing. Both the author and her husband signed it. Counsel did not contact the parents of the witness. Counsel

presented their letter to the court after Smart was convicted (R. 5 at $62 \, \P \, 4$, App., p. 44).

In *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984), 104 S. Ct. 2052, "Representation of a criminal defendant entails certain basic duties. Counsel's function is to assist the defendant, and hence counsel owes the client a duty of loyalty, a duty to avoid conflicts of interest (citation omitted). From counsel's function as assistant to the defendant derive the overarching duty to advocate the defendant's cause... Counsel also has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." *See Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U. S., at 68-69.

In her January 17, 1999 letter to counsel, Smart ponders the second degree sexual assault charges, "Honestly, I didn't even know giving a kid a hand job with his consent was illegal" (R. 5 at 42 ¶ 1, App., 24). It is obvious by this statement that Smart did not understand the charge of second degree sexual assault. Smart was led to believe that her actions were the crimes. But counsel did not advise Smart, otherwise. To the contrary, counsel allowed Smart to persist in the belief that she had sexually assaulted JD by virtue of their actions.

Smart states in her letter to Judge Mawdsley before sentencing: "Your Honor, my charges are much more serious

than I realized when I committed them. In spite of the severity of the crimes I committed last year, I had no intentions of harming anyone who was involved, directly or indirectly" (attach. 8) (R. 5 at 75, \P 3, App., 54). And later (in the same letter), "I have deep remorse for having committed these crimes. I will never know the full impact of what I have done to those involved, directly or indirectly, which bothers me continuously" (R. 5 at 76, \P 1, App., 55).

These were not the thoughts and words of a person with prurient interests, criminal intentions, or concealed guilt. These were the statements of a person who was misinformed. Smart was not apprised of the nature of the violations—sexual arousal and sexual gratification. Counsel was obligated to inform Smart of the meaning of sexual contact. But counsel did not inform Smart of the meaning of the second degree sexual assault charges or the definition of sexual contact.

Under Wisconsin Supreme Court rules (Chapter 20A - Rules of Professional Conduct for Attorneys (Jul 01, 2023) Client-Lawyer Relationship: (SCR) 20:1.1 Competence[:] "A lawyer **shall** provide competent representation to a client" (emphasis added). "Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation." Under SCR

20:1.1, *supra*, "legal knowledge," it was of paramount importance for counsel to know and inform Smart of the definition of "sexual contact" because sexual contact contained the nature of the second degree sexual assault charge against her—sexual arousal and sexual gratification.

Sexual contact is defined in the first section of Chapter 948 Crimes Against Children at Wis. Stat. § 948.01(5). Sexual contact is a required element of the charge of second degree sexual assault and has its own jury instruction—Wis. JI—Criminal 2101-A (7/2024) Sexual Contact § 948.01(5). *See also*, Wis. Stat. 948.02(2) and Wis. JI—Criminal 2104 (2020) SECOND DEGREE SEXUAL ASSAULT of a Child. Counsel did not advise Smart of this critical information.

Given that counsel did not inform Smart of the nature of the charges, Smart thought she had no defense. Therefore counsel's plea negotiations were her only way forward. Not being informed of the criminal intent elements for any of the charges, made it impossible for Smart to participate in fair plea negotiations—what's more, advance to a fair plea hearing.

Statements made by Smart both before and after the negotiations show that she was not seeking sexual arousal or sexual gratification in her interactions with JD. Since Smart was not made aware of the sexual arousal and gratification

element common to the crimes of second degree sexual assault and exposing genitals, she unknowingly agreed to the terms of the plea negotiations.

Regarding the misdemeanor charge—exposing genitals (Wis. Stat. § 948.10(1)): During the plea hearing, counsel told the judge, "I have gone through a guilty plea questionnaire with Jennifer this morning and I filed that with the court" (R. 2 at 2:16-19, App., p. 48). Counsel concealed the elements of criminal intent when filling out the plea questionnaire: First, counsel allowed Smart to initial the box on page 2. labeled: Each element of the crime(s) to which I am pleading. By not showing, explaining, or requiring Smart to state the crucial element prefacing the exposing genitals charge (Wis. Stat. § 948.10(1)), "Whoever, for purposes of sexual arousal sexual gratification," **Smart** remained uninformed of the criminal intent being attributed to her actions; Second: the "See attached sheet" check box is blank. The "attached sheet" could have been jury instructions showing Smart what the prosecutor would have had to prove to get a conviction for child abduction. ⁶ But counsel did not show Smart jury instructions. Smart was not asked to write down the elements of the charges. Instead, at the plea hearing, she repeated parts of statutes that counsel had told her to say;

⁶ Wis. JI—Criminal 2160 (1/2023) Abduction of Another's Child.

And Third: counsel signified: "I believe [Smart] understands this document and the plea agreement, and is making this plea freely and voluntarily, and intelligently" (R. 5 at 99, App., p. 49). Counsel's 'belief' was in error because counsel had not explained to Smart the elements of the charges.

In Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum under the subheading Sex Offender Assessment—written by counsel—counsel summarized the sex offender assessment report, stating: 'Ms. Sherman found that the sexual contact between Jennifer and [JD] appeared to be "an isolated incident since Jennifer does not appear to be sexually drawn to others significantly younger than herself" (R. 5 at 31 ¶ 1, App., p. 66). Counsel misrepresented the specialist. Ms. Sherman did not find sexual contact between Smart and JD. Ms. Sherman did not, even once, use the phrase "sexual contact" in her entire report. While Ms. Sherman (the expert) was presenting Smart's actions as protective and nurturing, counsel was introducing sexual contact.

Ms. Sherman said this: #4. "[Smart] was not seeking personal sexual gratification;" #5. "Jennifer denies having received sexual gratification from the offenses;" #7. "Jennifer's conduct appears to have been motivated by a want to nurture and protect JD" (R. 5 at 51, App., p. 21). Counsel had the specialist's report over two months before the plea

hearing (R. 5 at 45-52), but counsel failed to use the report findings to counter the charges of second degree sexual assault.

By counsel saying that Smart had sexual contact, he was contradicting the specialist that he had hired to examine Smart. By saying Smart had sexual contact, he placed himself in agreement with the prosecution—saying, in effect, that Smart had been sexually aroused and sexually gratified in her interactions with JD. The criminal complaints presented no evidence that Smart's interactions with JD were for her sexual arousal or gratification. Reiterating what counsel claimed the specialist had said, counsel brought up "sexual contact" again Defendant's under in Sentencing Memorandum subheading Jennifer's Character: "Although there was sexual contact between Jennifer and [JD], she neither has a history of being attracted to younger males, nor is she sexually drawn to them" (R. 5 at 34 ¶ 1, App., p. 67). By repeatedly saying Smart had sexual contact with JD, counsel made a clear showing that he was not advocating for Smart but assisting the State in validating the dismissed and read-in charges of second degree sexual assault.

Regarding the Child Abduction charges (Wis. Stat. § 948.30(1)(a)), the statute reads:

Abduction of another's child; constructive custody. (1) Any person who, for *any unlawful purpose*, does any of the following is guilty of a Class C felony: (a) Takes a child who is not his or her own by birth or adoption from the child's home or the custody of his or her parent, guardian or legal custodian (emphasis added).

Smart told counsel that SD threatened to shoot JD, Smart, and herself the evening of October 5, 1998. To avoid the possibility of SD acting on the threats, Smart offered for JD to travel with her up north. She had a safe place to stay with family on the Lac du Flambeau Reservation. Counsel was aware of SD's threats from the discovery materials given to him by the district attorney but he allowed them to be suppressed from court proceedings.

Counsel had a potential witness to SD's threatening behavior. In one of the character witness letters that counsel requested, the writer stated: "I fully believe that [Smart] felt this boy was in danger at his home and this belief has been corroborated by our daughter" (R. 5 at 62 ¶ 4, App., p. 44). The aforementioned "daughter" was a fellow classmate of Smart and SF (SF being SD's daughter). Counsel withheld the statement from the court. Whatever evidence could have been

used to advocate for Smart, counsel kept out of the view of the court.

Counsel had gathered exculpatory evidence months before the plea hearing, but counsel did not use any of the evidence to defend Smart. Instead, he allowed the prosecution to suppress SD's threats of violence and infer that Smart's actions were sexually motivated.

Under "preparation," *see* SCR 20:1.1, counsel was fully prepared: Counsel had advance notice in Criminal Complaint PR98-10710 telegraphing the prosecutor's plea bargain ploy, via the check-marked child abduction charges and the handwritten misdemeanor notation—Ct. 5 amended inform. Exposing— (R. 5 at 127, 129, App., p. 11-12). *See* Argument II; counsel had SD's murder/suicide threats from the Lac du Flambeau police report; counsel had a defense witness (attach. 4 at 4) (R. 5 at 62, App., p. 44); counsel had Smart's statements and her background letter (attach. 1) (R. 5 at 37-44); counsel had the findings of a sex offender specialist (attach. 2) (R. 5 at 45-52, App., p. 21); counsel had numerous character witness letters from associates of Smart (attach. 4) (R. 5 at 57-67, 78-81). But counsel kept it all under cover until six weeks after Smart's June 11, 1999 convictions.

Smart started her investigation of the convictions due to a perceived violation of her so called "plea agreement." In

retrospect, being that Smart was not informed of the criminal intent attributed to the offenses, the agreement not to be placed on the sex offender registry as part of plea negotiations was not unreasonable. However, counsel's wording of the agreement was both misleading and without any meaning: "Specifically, the [S]tate will not request that the court consider requiring Jennifer to comply with the reporting requirements for sex offenders under section 301.45 and 973.048, Wis. Stats" (R. 5 at 95, 98, App., p. 46-47). The agreement was empty—asking the State to do nothing but apply the law.

Counsel did not address sex offender registration at the plea hearing or thereafter. Under Wis. Stat. § 973.048(2m), counsel could have motioned for a hearing wherein to present his collection of exculpatory evidence. Instead, counsel allowed the court to determine that Smart's conduct was sexually motivated.

Three years after Smart was convicted, her probation officer informed her that if she did not register as a sex offender, he would have her arrested. When Smart called counsel and told him that her plea bargain had been violated, he responded in a letter, "I explained to you that since I have been unable to provide any explanation for the fact that the child abduction conviction required sex offender registry and

that I apparently failed to advise you of that, I must conclude at this point that I failed to properly advise you of that fact." (R. 29 at 1, App., p. 73).

Counsel wanted to avoid a jury trial. In one of his higher education requests for Smart, counsel made this irrelevant statement: "I am still hopeful that these cases can be resolved without trial" (R. 5 at 110, App., p. 45). At the time of sentencing, counsel opined to the judge how Smart was convicted so economically: "A minimum of court and prosecutorial resources have been used to obtain the two felony and one misdemeanor convictions which Jennifer pled to" (R. 5 at 34 ¶ 2, App., p. 68).

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