Filed 03-05-2025

FILED 03-05-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT II

Case No. 2024AP2239

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JENNIFER R. SMART,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A WIS. STAT. § 974.06 MOTION ENTERED IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RALPH M. RAMIREZ, PRESIDING

## **BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. This Court lacks jurisdiction to review Smart's claims because she has not been in custody for many years, and she did not timely appeal from the circuit court's 2023 orders denying her petitions for writs of coram nobis.

Wisconsin Stat. § 974.06 requires the person filing the motion to be "a prisoner in custody under sentence of a court." Wis. Stat. § 974.06(1). This statute "was 'taken directly from Title 28, USC, s. 2255," the federal habeas corpus statute. *State v. Mentzel*, 218 Wis. 2d 734, 743, 581 N.W.2d 581 (Ct. App. 1998). "When seeking guidance as to the proper application of a state statute copied from federal law, [this Court] may look to federal cases." *Id.* 

As with a motion under Wis. Stat. § 974.06, "[a]lthough a § 2255 may be brought 'at any time,' that section imposes the requirement that the movant be 'in custody." *United States v. Darnell*, 716 F.2d 479, 480 (7th Cir. 1983). When the sentence based upon the conviction and, as here, the underlying plea of guilty that the petitioner seeks to challenge has expired, he or she "is no longer 'in custody' for the purpose of pursuing a § 2255 challenge." *Id.*; *State v. Bell*, 122 Wis. 2d 427, 362 N.W.2d 443 (Ct. App. 1984) (same as related to Wis. Stat. § 974.06).

Smart completed her probation terms in 2008. (R. 8:2.) She is therefore not "a prisoner in custody under sentence of a court" and has not been for nearly two decades. (R. 3:1); Wis. Stat. § 974.06(1). The circuit court should have dismissed this action for lack of competency to proceed. *Bell*, 122 Wis. 2d 428–29.

"At this late date," Smart's potential avenue for relief was via a writ of coram nobis. *Darnell*, 716 F.2d at 480; *State v. Heimermann*, 205 Wis. 2d 376, 380, 556 N.W.2d 756 (Ct. App. 1996). That raises a jurisdictional question here, because Smart filed two separate petitions for writs of coram nobis in the circuit court in 2023, and she did not appeal the circuit court's denial of either of them. (R. 31; 32; 36; 39.)

"It has frequently been held that an order entered on a motion to modify or vacate a judgment or order is not appealable where, as here, the only issues raised by the motion were disposed of by the original judgment or order." Marsh v. City of Milwaukee, 104 Wis. 2d 44, 47, 310 N.W.2d 615 (1981) (citation omitted). "Since neither the consent of parties nor action of the court can extend the statutory time for the taking of an appeal . . . such a result cannot be reached by the indirect method of again moving for the same relief that was refused in the prior order." Id. (citation omitted.) Smart raised the same issues in her coram nobis petitions that she raised in the motion at issue in this appeal,<sup>6</sup> meaning the second petition for a writ of coram nobis and the current motion at issue here were essentially motions for reconsideration in the circuit court. (R. 31; 36; 45; 46.) Smart's remedy was to appeal the first coram nobis decision, and a notice of appeal from that order was due August 23, 2023. Wis. Stat. § 808.04(1). This Court thus lacks jurisdiction to hear her current appeal.

# II. The circuit court appropriately determined that Smart's motion was untimely because laches bars Smart's claims.

Wisconsin construes pleadings in civil cases liberally according "to the facts pleaded, not to the label given the papers filed." *bin-Rilla v. Israel*, 113 Wis. 2d 514, 521, 335 N.W.2d 384 (1983). Should this Court determine that it has jurisdiction to address Smart's claims, it should nevertheless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Technically, Smart raised these same issues in her 2021 "Motion to Vacate" her convictions and could have appealed years ago, but the circuit court never entered a written order denying that motion. (R. 20.)

affirm because even when construed as a petition for a writ of coram nobis, the circuit court correctly denied Smart's motion as untimely. She also independently did not meet the criteria for the writ to issue.

A writ of coram nobis is a discretionary writ addressed to the circuit court, and this Court reviews a decision denying such a writ for an erroneous exercise of discretion. Jessen v. State, 95 Wis. 2d 207, 213, 290 N.W.2d 685 (1980). "The writ of coram nobis is a common law remedy which empowers the trial court to correct its own record." Heimermann, 205 Wis. 2d at 381–82. "A person seeking a writ of coram nobis must pass over two hurdles." Id. at 384. "First, he or she must establish that no other remedy is available." Id. "Second, the factual error that the petitioner wishes to correct must be crucial to the ultimate judgment and the factual finding to which the alleged factual error is directed must not have been previously... 'passed on' by the trial court." Id.

Smart had another remedy available for these issues via either a direct appeal or a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion and simply opted not to use them. Everything of which she complains relates to how her attorney performed at her preliminary hearing, plea hearing, and sentencing and does not depend on any error of fact during those proceedings that does not appear in the record and crucial to accepting her plea.<sup>7</sup> (R. 46; 55:5–15.) Most of what she relayed at the hearing had to do only with her own understanding of the sexual assault charges—that were dismissed as part of the plea and therefore cannot have mattered to her underlying conviction—and how being on the sex offender registry has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> It is not clear what Smart believes her attorney could have done to "alleviate" the requirement that she register as a sex offender given that registration was statutorily mandated for the two child abduction charges to which she pleaded no contest. (R. 1:1); Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1)(a) (1997–98).

impacted her life. (R. 55:5–10.) Otherwise, she merely offered her version of events to contest the facts stated in the complaint to one of the abduction charges, of which the court was aware through the presentence investigation. (R. 55:7– 10; 1:4; 18:4–5.) All of those challenges could have been made on direct appeal or via a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion, and none is the type of material error of fact appropriate for a grant of a writ of coram nobis.

Smart's claims are also barred by the doctrine of laches. Laches is an equitable defense, Sawyer v. Midelfort, 217 Wis. 2d 795, 806, 579 N.W.2d 268 (Ct. App. 1998), that may be invoked in response to a petition for a writ of error coram nobis. Darnell, 716 F.2d at 480. Though the State did not use the precise phrase "laches" below, it argued "[t]hese are all issues that . . . the defendant could have raised a long time ago. . . . Part of the reason for res judicata and some of these time limits that exist for appeals is that everyone is at a disadvantage when time has passed." (R. 55:15-16.) The circuit court agreed and found that "the time frame for requesting those remedies, has long been exhausted," and there was not "any equitable reason for [the court] to take any action or consider the post conviction relief that she is alleging resulted in a wrongful conviction." (R. 55:20.) The circuit court was correct.

Laches requires: "(1) unreasonable delay; (2) lack of knowledge on the part of the party asserting the defense that the other party would assert the right on which he bases his suit; and (3) prejudice to the party asserting the defense." *State v. Prihoda*, 2000 WI 123, ¶ 37, 239 Wis. 2d 244, 618 N.W.2d 857.

It would appear axiomatic that waiting 22 years to challenge one's conviction for the first time, especially when based on allegations that would have been apparent immediately after entry of judgment, is an unreasonable delay. And the State had no way of knowing that Smart would assert these claims, particularly after her sentence expired in 2008 without her ever once filing anything related to the validity of her conviction.

Finally, Smart's delay has unequivocally prejudiced the State in ways that it would not have if Smart had timely challenged her conviction. This case is "a textbook example of the problems arising from an inordinate delay in seeking relief." Darnell, 716 F.2d at 481. Ineffective assistance of counsel claims require testimony from defense counsel to determine whether they met their Sixth Amendment obligations,<sup>8</sup> and it would be beyond absurd to expect a defense attorney to recall what they considered and discussed with a client leading up to a plea nearly a quarter of a century earlier. Additionally, the only transcript that appears to have been prepared following Smart's convictions in 1999 prior to the hearings held in 2021 and 2024 is a transcript of the plea hearing prepared in 2002. (R. 2.) Documents, even any minutes, from the original case file are sparse, and the chance that the court reporters from the rest of the proceedings have retained notes to create transcripts for an additional 14 years beyond the 10-year retention period is almost zero. See SCR 72.01(47). As the Seventh Circuit explained, "[t]he cognizable claims that [Smart] raises—ineffective assistance of counsel and an involuntary guilty plea—are troublesome even where a complete record of the proceedings exists." Darnell, 716 F.2d at 481. It would be nearly impossible for the State to establish the voluntariness of the proceedings now or to take this case to trial.

Smart additionally has not demonstrated that she could not have timely raised these claims. By her own admission, she became aware of the requirement that she register as a sex offender in 2002. (R. 55:7.) She gives no explanation for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

waiting another 19 years to attempt to challenge her conviction because of that requirement. (R. 55:7–10; 46.)

Lastly, the victim has both a constitutional and a statutory finality interest in Smart's convictions. Wis. Const. art. I § 9m(2)(c), (d); Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(k). The victim was a month shy of his 14th birthday at the time of these offenses. (R. 1:2–3.) To expect him to come relive them 26 years later as a 40-year-old adult who has, hopefully, productively moved on in life simply because Smart feels inconvenienced by having to report to the sex offender registry would be a perversion of justice.

## CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court.